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Accordingly, the Board advised Dr. Okoro of his right to request a hearing in this 
matter. (St. Ex. 1A). 

 
B. On January 9, 2006 Dr. Okoro submitted a written request for a hearing on these 

charges. (St. Ex. 1C). 
 

II. Appearances 
 

A. On behalf of the State of Ohio: Jim Petro, Attorney General, by                    
Damion M. Clifford, Assistant Attorney General. 

 
B. Dr. Okoro did not appear in person at the time of the hearing, but prior to that time he 

did provide the Board with an unsworn written statement in support of his cause. 
 
 

 
EVIDENCE EXAMINED 

 
I. Testimony Heard 

 
Neither the State nor Dr. Okoro presented testimony during the administrative 
hearing in this matter. 

 
 

II. Exhibits Examined 
 

A. Presented by the State: 
 

1. State’s Exhibits 1A-1H: Procedural exhibits. 
 
2. State’s Exhibit 2: Copy of the Amended Judgment in US v. Okoro. 
 
3. State’s Exhibit 3: Copy of the Transcript of Resentencing Hearing in                

US v. Okoro. 
4. State’s Exhibit 4: Copy of the Superseding Indictment in US v. Okoro. 
 

   5. State’s Exhibit 5: Copy of the Amended Order in Texas Complaint against 
Victor Okoro. 

 
6. State’s Exhibit 6: Copy of the Final Order in Texas Complaint against Victor 

Okoro. 
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7. State’s Exhibit 7:  Copy of the Texas Complaint against Victor Okoro. 
 
8. State’s Exhibit 8: Copy of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 

Notice to Victor Okoro. 
 
9. State’s Exhibit 9: Copy of Dr. Okoro’s certificate to practice medicine and 

surgery in Ohio. 
 
 

B. Presented by the Respondent: 
 
1.   Respondent’s Exhibit A: Dr. Okoro’s Statement to the Board of December 29, 

2005. 
 
2. Respondent’s Exhibit B: Dr. Okoro’s Memorandum of January 31, 2006, with 

cover letter dated February 1, 2006. 
 
3. Respondent’s Exhibit C:  Dr. Okoro’s letter to the Attorney General’s Office, 

Health and Human Services section, dated March 6, 2006. 
  
4. Respondent’s Exhibit D: Dr. Okoro’s post-hearing letter to the Attorney 

General’s Office, Health and Human Services section, dated May 5, 2006.  
  
5. Respondent’s Exhibit E:  Dr. Okoro’s post-hearing letter to the Attorney 

General’s Office, Health and Human Services Section, dated May 16, 2006. 
 
6. Respondent’s Exhibit F: Copy of the letter from Assistant Attorney General 

Clifford to R. Gregory Porter, Chief Hearing Examiner for the State Medical 
Board of Ohio, dated May 11, 2006, with attachments from Dr. Okoro. 

   
 

C. Admitted on the Hearing Examiner’s Own Motion: 
  

Board Exhibit A: July 11, 2006 entry reassigning this matter to  
Christopher B. McNeil, Esq. 
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SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE 
 

All exhibits and transcripts of testimony, even if not specifically mentioned, were thoroughly 
reviewed and considered by the Hearing Examiner prior to preparing this Report and 
Recommendation.  
 

1. The State Medical Board of Ohio issued a Certificate to Practice Medicine and 
Surgery to Chijioke Victor Okoro, M.D., the Respondent in this administrative 
action. The Certificate was first issued on July 14, 1982 (under Certificate No. 35-
047675) and expired on April 1, 2004 for non-payment of renewal fees, and to 
date has not been reinstated. (State’s Exhibit [St. Ex.] 9) 

 
 
Evidence of the Felony Criminal Convictions 
  
2. On October 14, 2002, in proceedings conducted before the United States District 

Court for the Southern District of Texas a jury found Dr. Okoro guilty of seven 
counts of health care fraud, three counts of filing false federal income tax returns, 
and fifteen counts of mail fraud. Each of these counts was a felony charge, and all 
charges were based on an indictment that described conduct attributed to             
Dr. Okoro and others operating medical clinics that specialized in physical 
medicine, with an emphasis on physical therapy relating to injuries sustained in 
automobile accidents. (St. Ex.2, p. 1) 

  
3. The criminal charges were based on allegations that Dr. Okoro hired unlicensed 

foreign medical school graduates to act as doctors in these clinics, and with the aid 
of others devised a scheme for obtaining money by means of false and fraudulent 
pretenses and misrepresentations submitted to insurance companies reviewing 
claims for injuries claimed to have been sustained as a result of automobile 
accidents. The indictment alleged that Dr. Okoro, acting as the sole licensed 
medical doctor for these clinics, fabricated physician evaluations and provided 
insurance company representatives with copies of these false and fraudulent 
physician evaluations and told the representatives that he knew and had treated 
these patients, when in truth he had neither met nor treated these patients. The 
indictment further alleged that Dr. Okoro excluded a significant portion of his 
income from his tax returns in the years 1996, 1997, and 1998, approximating a 
total of $1,201,870.00 of unreported gross receipts, thereby understating his tax 
liability in the amount of $122,721.00. (St. Ex. 4)  
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4. In resentencing proceedings conducted on August 15, 2005, the United States 
District Court for the Southern District of Texas, Judge Lynn N. Hughes presiding, 
sentenced Dr. Okoro to 151 months of imprisonment with three years of 
supervised probation thereafter, and ordered that he pay $525,197.47 in restitution 
to the United States jointly with other defendants, and a fine of $6,500,000.00, 
along with costs and an assessment. (St. Ex. 2, pages 4 and 10)  

 
Evidence of Action by the Texas State Board of Medical Examiners 
  
5. The State of Texas through the Texas State Board of Medical Examiners 

authorized Dr. Okoro to practice medicine in Texas; and in proceedings conducted 
before that Board, the license issued to Dr. Okoro was revoked effective        
August 15, 2003. The Final Order revoking Dr. Okoro’s license reports that the 
order was based upon Dr. Okoro’s conviction in federal court for the offenses 
described above.  (St. Ex. 6)  

  
6. Through its evidentiary process, the Texas Board found cause to discipline         

Dr. Okoro based upon the fact that on October 15, 2002, Dr. Okoro was convicted 
by a federal jury on multiple felony counts of health care fraud, mail fraud, and 
false tax returns in the United States District Court for the Southern District of 
Texas. It also found that, with regard to the health care fraud offenses, the jury 
found Dr. Okoro employed a series of foreign graduates in his Houston clinic; that 
these employees were not licensed to practice medicine in Texas or in any other 
state; that Dr. Okoro paid them relatively low wages and claimed that he actually 
performed the work. It also found that Dr. Okoro entered into several agreements 
with twenty-one physical therapy clinics and engaged in improper billing practices 
using his provider number. The Texas Board found that, despite repeated notices 
of suspect or improper billing practices, Dr. Okoro billed more than nine million 
dollars to Medicare from late 1998 to early 2001, and that Medicare paid 
approximately four million dollars under Dr. Okoro’s provider number during this 
period. At the conclusion of its administrative review of the charges against        
Dr. Okoro, and upon Dr. Okoro’s default in those proceedings, the Texas Board 
revoked Dr. Okoro’s license to practice medicine in Texas. (St. Ex. 6, p. 1-2) 

  
Evidence of Adverse Action Taken by the United States Department of Health 
and Human Services 
 
7. The United States Department of Health and Human Services has issued a notice 

to Dr. Okoro excluding him from participation in the Medicare, Medicaid and all 
federal health care programs as defined in section 1128B(f) of the Social Security 
Act for a minimum period of 25 years. This action was taken due to the 
convictions in federal court for the offenses described above. Although such  
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convictions require at least a five-year exclusion, the Department entered its order 
for greater than the minimum number of years because of the following 
aggravating factors: (1) the illegal acts resulted in a financial loss to one or more 
government programs that exceeded $5,000 (in this case the amount was 
approximately $525,000.00); (2) the illegal acts were committed over a period of 
more than one year (here the acts started in 1995 and continued to 2001); (3) the 
court ordered Dr. Okoro’s incarceration (here the order was for 151 months); and 
(4) the licensee was convicted of other offenses (filing false federal tax returns) 
and was subject to disciplinary action by a state agency (i.e., the Texas State Board 
of Medical Examiners revoked Dr. Okoro’s physician license). (St. Ex. 8) 

 
Evidence and Claims Made in Mitigation by Dr. Okoro 
  
8. Writing on his own behalf and through unsworn letters to the Board, Dr. Okoro 

submits that the “legitimacy of the treatment” provided in his clinics “was never in 
doubt.” (St. Ex. 1-C, p. 2. Note: St. Ex. 1-C also appears in the record as 
Respondent’s Exhibit [Resp. Ex.] A). In his written statement of December 29, 
2005, Dr. Okoro stated:  

About 1999, I had signed up with several area clinics if the clinic 
met the standards established by Medicare for outpatient 
management of physical disability. I did not sign with these clinics 
to enrich myself but rather to assist in providing needed healthcare 
for those of the 37 million poor Americans who reside in the 
Houston area. I was confident that with the team of physicians 
including Doctors Mahmood and Shah, the chiropractor – Dr. 
Thomas, the licensed physical therapist Anna Seqosebe, as well as 
other foreign medical graduates and technicians we were in a 
position to manage those patients that would be referred to our care. 
In addition to my own staff each clinic had its own staff of 
physicians and licensed physical therapists, this was obviously one 
of the requirements for the government program of physical 
medicine. Most of these owners would be denied the opportunity to 
testify as to their billing practices and the sworn affidavits by some 
clinic owners who were never introduced to the evidence. Id. 

  
9. Beyond attributing only sound medical practices to the operation of his clinics,     

Dr. Okoro described his legal counsel in the criminal proceedings (Richard 
“Racehorse” Haynes) as either “incompetent or dishonest” and offered a page from 
the case of U.S. v. Rutgard, found at 116 F.3d 1277 (9th Cir. 1997), in which the 
same attorney, Richard Haynes, was unprepared to proceed in a complex criminal 
trial that had been set for trial. Beyond this, however, Dr. Okoro does not offer an  
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explanation of how the 1997 excerpt of the appeal in the Rutgard case is relevant to 
these administrative proceedings. (St. Ex. 1C, p. 4) 

  
10. Dr. Okoro also provided the Board with a published news report showing that 

Ohio Supreme Court Justice Alice Robie Resnick was publicly reprimanded for a 
drunken driving conviction, but again this is offered without any explanation of its 
purported relevance. (St. Ex. 1C, p. 6)  

  
11. In his narrative statement to the Board, Dr. Okoro explained in some detail his 

own level of commitment to meeting the medical needs of many people. He asked 
that the Board:  

take the time [to] review my activities in the last 20 years and my 
wealth before you judge my intent to defraud the government and or the 
financial institutions. My children have suffered significantly because 
of the two-tier system of justice that continues to rear its ugly head in 
our society. My mistakes were certainly those of the heart. I HAVE 
NEVER contemplated aiding and abetting any illegal project by any 
individual, and I NEVER will. I continue to take pride in my deep 
feeling of obligation to serve humanity in thought and action. Id. at p. 
3.  

  
12. In further support of his cause, Dr. Okoro presented a series of documents to the 

Board, asking that these be considered when evaluating the merits of the charges 
against him. In a typed letter dated January 31, 2006, Dr. Okoro again seeks to 
revisit the facts supporting his criminal convictions, describing his efforts to 
present the testimony of certain witnesses in the federal criminal prosecution, 
challenging the adequacy of his criminal defense counsel (Mr. Haynes), and 
challenging the logic that supported his conviction, with a statement “Any idea to 
defraud the Medicare programme nor insurance companies would be immoral to 
me.” (Resp. Ex. B, p. 4, emphasis sic.) Generally, the contents of the exhibit were 
limited to self-serving declarations that addressed what Dr. Okoro perceived to be 
shortcomings or defects in the criminal prosecution. 

  
13. The record in this administrative action was closed to new evidence at the 

conclusion of the evidentiary hearing conducted on April 10, 2006. On three 
subsequent occasions, however, the Board’s Hearing Examiner received 
documents presented by Dr. Okoro with the request that these be considered as 
evidence, notwithstanding the untimely filing of these documents. In each instance 
the State agreed to their introduction, and as a result each of the documents 
received after the record was closed has been examined as part of the review of 
these proceedings. Each consists of both hand-written and typed notes from        
Dr. Okoro, and some include documents generated from other sources (e.g., in    
Dr. Okoro’s letter of April 3, 2006 to the Assistant Attorney General, he provides 
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two pages from the Plaintiff-Appellee’s brief in the appeal before the Fifth Circuit 
Court of Appeals case that considered the appeal from his criminal conviction). 
None of the submissions bear attestations and none are made under oath. 
Accordingly, they shall receive the evidentiary weight appropriately attributed to 
unsworn documents that have not been tested by any evidentiary examination. 
(Resp. Ex. A - E) 

  
14. The first of these submissions, received by the Board on May 15, 2006 and dated 

May 5, 2006, consists of a cover letter to the Assistant Attorney General from     
Dr. Okoro, a copy of a letter to Attorney Richard Haynes dated April 18, 2006 
from Dr. Okoro, a copy of a letter to Dr. Okoro from Sharon Levine of Haynes, 
Boyd & Associates, P.C., dated April 24, 2006, a four-page handwritten letter to 
the Board which Dr. Okoro presents to the Board in lieu of his personal 
appearance, and the same four-page typewritten letter from Dr. Okoro to an 
addressee not specified in the letter, regarding “Mail Fraud and Healthcare Fraud,” 
dated January 31, 2006 (which is already in the record, shown as Resp. Ex. B). 
(Resp. Ex. D) 

  
15. The second of these is a two-page handwritten letter from Dr. Okoro to Assistant 

Attorney General Clifford dated May 16, 2006, which is accompanied by another 
copy of the April 18, 2006 letter to Mr. Haynes and another copy of the April 24, 
2006 letter from Ms. Levine. The correspondence to AAG Clifford includes        
Dr. Okoro’s claim that his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights have been 
violated in the past, and his claim that he has not “waived the presentation of any 
additional evidence” in these administrative proceedings. The same is true with 
respect to the first packet of documents, except that Dr. Okoro’s statement to the 
Board bears further consideration. (Resp. Ex. E) 

  
16. In his statement to the Board, Dr. Okoro denies that he encouraged or endorsed 

any illegal activity, and denied having any knowledge of illegal activity. This 
unsworn statement lacks the evidentiary weight that would be attributed to a 
statement given under oath, and must be considered of limited value in this 
administrative proceeding. The same is true with each of the remaining claims 
contained in this statement, including Dr. Okoro’s claim that he violated no 
Medicare rule, that the evidence established no criminal intent by the doctors or 
employees of these clinics, and that his only goal was to try to assist in improving 
the health of older people. (Resp. Ex. E) 

  
17. The third set of documents was presented first to the Assistant Attorney General 

and then, by correspondence dated May 11, 2006, the set was presented to the 
Hearing Examiner with the Assistant Attorney General’s representation that the 
State had no objection to the Hearing Examiner accepting these documents. The  
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set consists of documents from the criminal appeal in Dr. Okoro’s case and hand-
written notes about the course of the criminal process, as well as an 8-page 
typewritten note, describing both Dr. Okoro’s perceptions of defects in the 
criminal process and his arguments in mitigation of the charges now pending 
before the Board. (Resp. Ex. F) 

  
 

ANALYSIS 
 

The record now before the Board establishes without contradiction that Dr. Okoro has 
been convicted of multiple felonies based upon his fraudulent claims in the course of his 
medical practice. The record also establishes Dr. Okoro’s license to practice medicine in 
Texas has been revoked based on the criminal convictions; and it establishes he has been 
excluded from participating in federal health care programs, based on the criminal conduct, 
which included obtaining money by fraudulent misrepresentations in the course of practice. 
Thus, each of the charges in the Board’s notice to Dr. Okoro has been proved. 

The facts underlying these charges are noteworthy, particularly given the scope of       
Dr. Okoro’s criminal enterprise and the amount of damage done to the public health system. 
Those best in a position to evaluate Dr. Okoro’s unlawful conduct – i.e., both the federal jury 
and the court that sentenced him – did not treat this enterprise lightly. There was both a 
substantial term of incarceration and a hefty fine imposed, reflecting the jury and court’s 
assessment of just how wrong this behavior was. While the Board must independently 
evaluate each case on its own merits, the factors in aggravation of the Board’s three charges 
are both clearly present and significant. While Ohio is obviously free to evaluate the evidence 
and make an independent determination of what sanction is appropriate, the record here 
suggests quite strongly the need for revocation of Dr. Okoro’s license. 

In mitigation, Dr. Okoro presents a long list of challenges to the underlying conviction. 
Nevertheless, these challenges fail as meaningful mitigation, in part because, by Board 
regulation, a certified copy of a judicial finding of guilt of any crime in a court of competent 
jurisdiction “is conclusive proof of the commission of all of the elements of that crime.” See 
O.A.C. 4731-13-24. Beyond the import of this rule, moreover, Dr. Okoro’s arguments in 
mitigation fail because in each instance, the claims he seeks to present to this Board could 
have been raised in the criminal proceeding.   

The Board may wish to note Dr. Okoro’s charitable giving, his love of the profession, 
and his otherwise unblemished and long record of service. Certainly these are attributes that 
are relevant and should be weighed when deciding the appropriate sanction. From the record, 
however, the serious and pervasive level of criminal fraud, his failure to present any 
meaningful response to the charges presented before the Texas Board, and the federal 
government’s action excluding him from participating in federal health care programs, all 
suggest permanent revocation is the appropriate disciplinary action in this case. 
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FINDINGS OF FACT 
 

1. The Respondent, Chijioke Victor Okoro, M.D., holds a certificate to practice 
medicine and surgery in Ohio issued by the State Medical Board of Ohio under 
Certificate No. 35-047675 on July 14, 1982.  That certificate expired on          
April 1, 2004 for non-payment of renewal fees, and has not been reinstated. 

  
2. The Respondent has been convicted of twenty-five felony counts in proceedings 

conducted by the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas, in 
the case of U.S. v. Okoro, 4:01CR00399-001. The judgment entered by that court 
established the Respondent was guilty of fifteen counts of mail fraud (in violation 
of 18 U.S.C. 2 and 18 U.S.C. 1341), three counts of filing false income tax returns 
(in violation of 26 U.S.C. 7206(1)), and seven counts of health care fraud (in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. 2 and 18 U.S.C. 1347). As a result of the conviction, the 
Respondent has been sentenced to 151 months of imprisonment with supervised 
release after imprisonment, and has been ordered to pay restitution to the United 
States in the amount of $525,191.47 and a fine of $6,250,000.00.  

  
3. The Respondent held a license to practice medicine in Texas, and on             

August 15, 2003, the Texas State Board of Medical Examiners entered an order 
revoking that license, upon the Respondent’s default in administrative proceedings 
before the Texas Board. That action was based upon sufficient proof having been 
shown of the Respondent’s criminal convictions as described in the foregoing 
findings. 

  
4. Acting pursuant to the authority of sections 1128(a)(1) and 1128(a)(3) of the 

Social Security Act, the United States Department of Health and Human Services 
has entered an order excluding the Respondent from participating in Medicare, 
Medicaid, and all federal health care programs for a minimum period of twenty-
five years. The Department in its order enhanced the exclusion period, which 
could have been for as short a period as five years. It did so finding evidence that 
the acts upon which the convictions were based resulted in a financial loss to the 
government of approximately $525,000.00; that the acts were committed over a 
period of greater than one year; that the sentencing court imposed 151 months of 
incarceration; and the Respondent was subject to adverse action by the State of 
Texas in addition to the criminal action. The Department’s action was based on   
Dr. Okoro obtaining money by fraudulent misrepresentations in the course of his 
medical practice. 

 
5. Upon finding cause to believe grounds existed to take action with respect to his 

certificate to practice medicine and surgery in Ohio, the Board set forth its charge 
against the Respondent in a notice dated December 14, 2005. In a written response  
 



Report and Recommendation 
In the Matter of Chijioke Victor Okoro, M.D. 
Page 11 

dated January 4, 2006 and received by the Board on January 9, 2006, the 
Respondent invoked his right to have an administrative review of the charge, and 
in a letter dated January 10, 2006 the Board acknowledged its receipt of the 
Respondent’s request for a hearing. The Board then set the matter for a hearing to 
commence on January 23, 2006, continued the hearing, appointed an 
administrative hearing examiner, and provided the parties with an opportunity to 
be heard on the charges in an evidentiary hearing conducted on April 10, 2006. 

 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 
1. Because he holds a certificate to practice medicine and surgery in Ohio, the 

Respondent Chijioke Victor Okoro, M.D. is subject to the jurisdiction of the 
State Medical Board of Ohio in actions taken pursuant to R.C. Chapter 4731. 

 
2. Upon sufficient cause to believe the holder of a certificate issued by the State 

Medical Board of Ohio has violated a provision of R.C. Chapter 4731 or 
regulations promulgated thereunder, the Board is authorized to take action with 
respect to that certificate. Upon his receipt of the Board’s charging document, 
the Respondent timely requested an evidentiary hearing before the Board took 
any final action based upon the Board’s charge. Upon its receipt of the 
Respondent’s request for a hearing, the Board set the matter for hearing in the 
manner provided for by R.C. 119.07 and 119.09 (the Administrative Procedure 
Act), and provided the Respondent with an opportunity to be heard, all in the 
manner provided for by law and in accordance with all statutory and 
constitutional protections afforded to persons possessing such a certificate. 

  
3. The Board may take disciplinary action against a certificate-holder upon 

sufficient proof that the person has been convicted of a felony. The convictions 
entered by the federal court in the matter of U.S. v. Okoro, as described in 
Finding of Fact No. 2 constitute “a judicial finding of guilt . . . of a felony” as 
that clause is used in Section 4731.22(B)(9), Ohio Revised Code.  

 
4. The Board may take disciplinary action against a certificate-holder upon  

sufficient proof that the agency responsible for regulating the practice of  
medicine and surgery in another jurisdiction has (for any reason other than 
nonpayment of fees) denied an application for a license to practice medicine and 
surgery. See R.C. 4731.22(B)(22) (2005).  The action taken by Texas Board 
against Chijioke Victor Okoro, M.D., as set forth in Finding of Fact No. 3 
constitutes one of “the following actions taken by the agency responsible for 
regulating the practice of . . . medicine and surgery . . . in another jurisdiction, for 
any reason other than the nonpayment of fees: the . . . denial of a license[,]” as  
that clause is used in Section 4731.22(B)(22), Ohio Revised Code.  
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5. The Board may take disciplinary action against a certificate-holder upon 
sufficient proof that the agency responsible for regulating the practice of 
medicine and surgery in another jurisdiction has (for any reason other than 
nonpayment of fees) denied an application for a license to practice medicine and 
surgery. See R.C. 4731.22(B)(22) (2005).  The action taken by Texas Board 
against Chijioke Victor Okoro, M.D., as set forth in Finding of Fact No. 3 
constitutes one of “the following actions taken by the agency responsible for 
regulating the practice of . . . medicine and surgery . . . in another jurisdiction, 
for any reason other than the nonpayment of fees:              the . . . denial of a 
license[,]” as that clause is used in Section 4731.22(B)(22), Ohio Revised Code.   

  
6. The Board may take disciplinary action against a certificate-holder upon 

sufficient proof that the person has been terminated from participation in 
Medicaid or Medicare based on the person obtaining money by fraudulent 
misrepresentations in the course of practice, in violation of R.C. 4731.22(B)(8). 
The action taken by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services in 
excluding the Respondent from participating in all federal health care programs, 
including Medicaid and Medicare, as set forth in Finding of Fact No. 4, 
constitutes the Respondent’s “[t]ermination or suspension from participation in 
the Medicare or Medicaid programs by the Department of Health and Human 
Services . . . for any act or acts that also would constitute a violation of          
[R.C. 4731.22(B)(8)],” as that clause is used in section 4731.22(B)(25) of the 
Revised Code.  

  
7. Upon sufficient proof that the Respondent has violated any provision of          

R.C. 4731.22(B), as has been demonstrated in the foregoing findings of fact and 
conclusions of law, the Board, by an affirmative vote of not fewer than six of its 
members, shall to the extent permitted by law limit, revoke or suspend an 
individual’s certificate to practice, refuse to register an individual, refuse to 
reinstate a certificate, or reprimand or place on probation the holder of a 
certificate, all pursuant to section 4731.22(B) of the Revised Code.  Further, 
when the Board revokes an individual’s certificate to practice, it may specify 
that the action is permanent. An individual subject to permanent action taken by 
the Board is forever thereafter ineligible to hold a certificate to practice and the 
Board shall not accept an application for reinstatement of the certificate or for 
issuance of a new certificate. See R.C. 4731.22(L) (2005). 
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